
 

 

 

Janie Berry 
Director of Legal Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Extension 38324 
Direct Dial 01629 538324 
Ask for Alisha Parker 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee 
 
 
 

Wednesday, 25 September 2019 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Governance, Ethics and Standards 
Committee to be held at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 3 October 2019 in 
Committee Room 3, County Hall, Matlock, Derbyshire, DE4 3AG, the 
agenda for which is set out below. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
JANIE BERRY 
Director of Legal Services  
 
A G E N D A 
 
1.   Apologies for absence  

 
To receive apologies for absence (if any) 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest (if any) 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the Governance, 
Ethics and Standards Committee held on 04 July 2019. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

4.   To consider the report of the Executive Director of Children's Services on 
an Investigation into Complaint No 18 000 932 against Derbyshire County 
Council (Pages 7 - 22) 
 

 



1 
 

PUBLIC 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE held on 04 July 2019 
at County Hall, Matlock 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillor C Short (in the Chair) 
 

Councillors J Coyle, K Gillott, A Griffiths, L Grooby, C Moesby, D Taylor 
(substitute Member) and S Swann (substitute Member) 
 
Also in attendance – Messrs K Jackson-Horner and L Newby MBE 
(Independent Persons) 
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors K Buttery, A Fox 
and W Major 
 
12/19  MINUTES RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the 
Standards Committee held on 12 April 2019 be confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.  
 
13/19  COMPLAINTS RECEIVED PURSUANT TO THE CODE OF 
CONDUCT FOR ELECTED MEMBERS  As part of the procedure for 
managing complaints received in relation to the Members Code of Conduct, the 
outcome of any complaint received should be reported to the Standards 
Committee. 
 
During the period 12th April 2019 to 21st June 2019, three complaints had been 
received and one of these had been concluded.  At the time of the last update 
report, one complaint was outstanding and this had now been concluded and 
was reported below. 
 
At the time of preparation of this report there were two complaints currently on-
going. 
 
The details of the concluded complaints were as follows: 
 
 Complaint 

received from 
Substance of the 
Complaint 

Outcome 

Cllr 1 
(outstanding 
complaint from 
the last reporting 
period) 

Member of the 
Public 

Allegation that all aspects 
of the Code of Conduct 
had been breached due to 
disrespectful behaviour  

Complaint not 
upheld 

Cllr 2 Member of the 
Public 

Failure to respond to 
repeated requests for 

Complaint 
upheld in an 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

information relating to a 
local issue 

informal 
manner as the 
Councillor in 
question 
offered an 
apology. 

 
RESOLVED  to (1) note the contents of this report; and (2) agree that 

details relating to the outstanding current complaint would be reported to a 
future meeting of the Standards Committee once the matter had been 
concluded. 
 
14/19  THE COUNCILS CONSTITUTION – REVIEW REPORT 
 The Council’s revised Constitution was implemented across the Council 
on 27th May 2019. In recommending the same to Full Council, the 
Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee (formerly known as the 
Standards Committee) gave a commitment to keep the Constitution under 
review with a formal review taking place every six months and on an annual 
basis. 
 
Following implementation, the Monitoring Officer had been advised of some 
minor amendments which the Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee 
was now asked to consider, namely:  
 
a) Article 20 – Officers  
 
An amendment to the Table which appeared at paragraph 20.1 (c) which 
should have read: 
 

Post Designation 
 
Executive Director for 
Communities, Commissioning and 
Policy  (note the underlined extract 
is the proposed additional wording) 

 
Head of Paid Service 

 
b) Amendments to the Scheme of Delegation for the Director of Communities 
Services in relation to Trading Standards Activities: (Appendix 1 pages 104 – 
107) 
 
It was proposed that the following legislation was added to the current 
Scheme of Delegation: 
 

o Animals Act 1971; 
o Energy Act 2011; 
o Environmental Protection Act 1990; 
o Offensive Weapons Act 2019; 

Page 2



3 
 

o European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018; and 
o Health and Safety at Work etc. 1974 ss19-26. 

 
The following extract was amended to read: 
 
Any Orders or Regulations made thereunder or relating to any of the foregoing 
or having effect by virtue of the European Communities Act 1972 or the 
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ; (note the underlined extract is the 
proposed additional wording) 
 
That the following legislation was removed from the Scheme of Delegation: 
 

o Medicines Act 1968 

 
c) Amendments to Article 8 
 
The list at paragraph 8.1 be amended to reflect the correct composition of the 
Improvement and Scrutiny – People Committee and to read as follows: 
 
People – comprising 9 Members, 2 Church representatives (1 from the Church 
of England diocese and 1 from the Roman Catholic diocese with voting rights 
in respect of education matters only and otherwise non-voting), 2 Parent 
Governor representatives (with voting rights in respect of education matters 
only and otherwise non-voting) and 2 trade union representatives (non-voting) 
 
d) Public Questions at meetings of the Improvement and Scrutiny 
Committees 
 
Over recent months there had been a growing interest by members of the 
public and interest groups and organisations to ask questions at the 
respective Improvement and Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
 
The Health Scrutiny Committee developed a protocol to accommodate this 
and as good practice, this had now been extended to all of the Council’s 
Improvement and Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
 
At its most recent meeting the Resources Improvement and Scrutiny 
Committee suggested some helpful amendments and points of clarification 
and the Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee was now asked to 
consider these and to approve the inclusion within the Council’s Constitution 
to aid transparency. 
 
The Guidance on Public Questions was based very closely on the Council 
Procedure Rules for Public Question at Full Council Meetings. 
 

Page 3



4 
 

A copy of the amended and now proposed Guidance appeared at Appendix 1 
to this Report. 
 
e) Receipt of Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and 
Combined Authorities issued by MHCLG 
 
On 7th May 2019, MHCLG issued the long awaited Statutory Guidance on 
Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities. A copy of this 
Guidance appeared at Appendix 2 of this report. 
 
During the course of the last municipal year, the Governance, Ethics and 
Standards Committee (formerly known as the Standards Committee) took a 
decision to delay the review of the Council’s delivery of Improvement and 
Scrutiny in so far as the Council’s Constitution was concerned until this current 
year following receipt of central government guidance. 
 
As this Guidance had now been received, approval of the Governance, Ethics 
and Standards Committee was now sought in order for the formal review of 
the Council’s arrangements to commence. 
 
It should be noted that the Resources Improvement and Scrutiny Committee 
formally received the Guidance at their most recent meeting and it was 
understood that there was a strong desire by Elected Members involved in the 
Council’s Scrutiny function to actively undertake such a review. 
 
It was proposed that this review was completed within this municipal year. 
 
However, it had become apparent that the scrutiny arrangements as 
described in the current Constitution were particularly outdated. Therefore, in 
the interim, pending the review, it was proposed to replace the table in Article 
8 with the table attached at Appendix 3 which better reflected the remit of 
each of the Improvement and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
 RESOLVED  to approve (1) the proposed amendments to the Council’s 
Constitution and note that these would be formally reported to Full Council at 
its next meeting on 17th July 2019; and (2) the commencement of a review of 
the Council’s Improvement and Scrutiny arrangements in response to the 
Statutory Guidance now received and it was noted that this review was to be 
completed during this municipal year. 
 
15/19  PROPOSALS FOR THE COMMITTEE’S WORK PROGRAMME 
2019/20 The Committee’s revised terms of reference now offered much 
more scope for delivery of a work programme during the course of this year 
should Members wish to undertake one. 

 
After consultation with the Chairman of the Governance, Ethics and Standards 
Committee, the following were proposed for consideration by way of initial 

Page 4



5 
 

suggestion however the Committee was encouraged to share any other areas 
of work which may be of interest: 
 
 
a) Review of the Council’s Outside Bodies appointments 
 
Each year, the Council was asked to nominate Elected Members on a wide 
variety of outside bodies; these were wide ranging in their nature, scope and 
function.   
 
The current list of outside body appointments appeared at Appendix 1 to this 
report for the Committee’s consideration. 
 
b) Declarations of Interest for Elected Members and Officers (including gifts 
and hospitality) and Elected Member safety 
 
Delivering a transparent ethical governance framework was a core element of 
the Committee’s work. The Declaration of Interests (including gifts and 
hospitality) by Elected Members and Officers was regularly reviewed by key 
stakeholders such as Internal Audit and External Audit as well as members of 
the Public. 
 
In addition to this there had been growing national concerns about the safety of 
Elected Members whilst acting in their official capacity on behalf of the Council.  
The Committee would note that Elected Member safety was an issue raised 
within the Committee for Standards in Public Life Annual Report and was 
something which had been considered by Internal Audit.  
 
It may be of interest to the Committee to invite the Assistant Director of Finance 
(for Internal Audit) to attend a future meeting of the Committee to explore this 
area further. 
 
c) Review of the Elected Member Code of Conduct and related Procedure 
for dealing with Complaints 
 
The Code of Conduct for Elected Members and the associated Procedure for 
dealing with Complaints was implemented in July 2012, and had not been 
reviewed since that time. In line with the recommendations from the Committee 
for Standards in Public Life should consideration be given to reviewing our Code 
of Conduct? 
 

RESOLVED to approve the Governance, Ethics and Standards 
Committee work programme for the municipal year 2019/2020. 
 

  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee 
 

     3 October 2019 
 

Report of the Executive Director – Children’s Services 
 

Report of the Local Government Ombudsman on an Investigation into 
Complaint No 18 000 932 against Derbyshire County Council 

 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 
 
To inform the Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee of a recent case 
investigated by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) who has made a finding of fault by the Council causing injustice to 
the complainant. 

 
2. Background 

 
J is the eldest son of Ms B and Mr S.  J has a younger sibling, J has 
experienced significant difficulties from an early age with his behaviour and 
communication with others.  J was diagnosed with autism and received 
support via a statement of special educational needs to transition to 
secondary school. 
 
Whilst at secondary school, J’s behaviour continued to deteriorate which also 
impacted on his attendance.  In the beginning the school and Ms B agreed J 
should go home for lunch and be brought back for the afternoon sessions as 
they were unable to manage his behaviour over lunch times.  Over time this 
increased and by year 8 onwards his overall attendance was very low.  J’s 
mum reported that he was very vulnerable to outside influences in the 
community at that time and his behaviour at home also worsened.   
 
J received a significant level of support from the local multi-agency team who 
worked with both J and Ms B to improve his school attendance.  A social care 
initial assessment was completed in December 2013 and core assessment in 
February 2014 at which time both J and his brother L were placed on a child 
protection plan.  They remained on a child protection plan until October 2014 
when professionals felt it was no longer necessary. 
 
J has also been supported by medical professionals for a number of years 
during which time he has been prescribed a number of different medications 
to help manage his behaviour.  This has resulted in long periods of instability 
which has impacted significantly on his ability to cope with day to day life.  
 
More recently J has been diagnosed with schizophrenia and he has received 
support from adult services.   
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



PUBLIC 

 
 

 
 

3. The Complaint 
 
The complainant first complained to the LGSCO that: 
 
1. The Council failed to make appropriate education provision for J and 

2. The Council failed to provide a special school placement as requested. 

Ms B first contacted the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman in 
2015 at which time it was declared a premature referral and the Council was 
asked to consider the complaint under the relevant complaints procedure. 

 
There were a number of delays including a poor quality initial investigation, 
followed by reallocation and unexpected staff absence which resulted in all 
stages of the complaint process not being concluded until April 2018.  The 
complaint was upheld on both counts and a number of recommendations 
were made. 
 
The LGSCO notified the Council of its intention to investigate on 9th May 
2018, requesting a copy of the report and adjudication letter sent to Ms B.  As 
a result of its investigation, the LGSCO notified the Council of its intention to 
issue a public report on this matter a copy of which is attached for information.  
 

4. Findings 
 

The LGSCO found the following fault 
 

 While there were attempts to encourage J to attend school he attended 

little and there was no structured alternative provision.  There is no 

evidence that reviews took place after Year 10.  

 The annual reviews of the statement were ineffective.  Once the 

Council considered the report from the annual reviews it should have 

asked more questions about what was being delivered.  This would 

have revealed it was not providing what the Statement required and 

what J was entitled to receive. 

 There was significant delay in considering the complaint.   

The LGSCO also found the following fault causing injustice: 
 

 The failure to provide J’s SEN support, particularly speech and 

language therapy (SALT), represents fault that caused potentially 

significant impact to J.   

 Between 2011 and 2014 J’s attendance deteriorated significantly.  

Whilst not all issues he faced were due to education, and whilst at 

times it was unlikely he could have engaged with education, as the 

Page 8



PUBLIC 

Council has identified, he needed the support set out in his statement 

and the LGSCO was satisfied J was caused disadvantage 

 Ms B and Mr S were left with a degree of distress and uncertainty 

about how much of a difference SALT provision may have helped J 

during his school years. 

 The LGSCO welcomes the apology the Council has provided to Ms B 

and the actions the Council agreed to take to improve its processes 

and procedures following this complaint.  However, as the impact is 

significant the LGSCO considered a financial remedy appropriate to 

recognise the damage to J’s education.   

 
5. Recommendations/actions: 

 
The fault identified meant that J missed out on education and SEN provision 
for the majority of his secondary school years.  The LGSCO welcomed that 
the Council accepted the findings and agreed to the following 
recommendations: 

 

 The Council will make a payment of £22,500 to J to reflect the impact 

of the missed provision.  In part, this could be used to fund a shed that 

would help J manage his mental health, with the remainder placed in 

trust for J.  This recommendation has now been actioned and the 

agreed payment made to J. 

 The Council will recognise the impact on Ms B from the lack of 

provision for J and the distress and uncertainty about how much the 

provision may have helped J over an extended period.  To reflect this 

the Council should pay Ms B £1000.  This recommendation has now 

been actioned and the agreed payment made to Ms B. 

In addition to the above recommendations the following actions have also 
been taken: 

 The Council has placed two public notice announcements in two local 
newspapers/websites within two weeks of the LGSCO publishing the 
report.  It has also made copies of the report available free of charge at 
one or more of the Council Offices.  This is a required action in relation 
to a public report issued by the LGSCO and has been completed by 
Legal services. 

 The Council is also required to arrange for the report to be placed 
before the Council’s, Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee 
and inform the LGSCO when this has been done.  This report fulfils this 
required action in relation to a public report issued by the LGSCO.  

 The Council will provide evidence to confirm the required actions have 
been taken in accordance with the agreed remedy.   

 The learning from this investigation is to be shared with both Schools 
and SEND services to ensure such a situation is mitigated against for 
the future. This is being taken forward by the Service Director, Schools 
& Learning and the Head of Service for SEND 

Page 9



PUBLIC 

 Management oversight of attendance at school for children and young 
people with SEND has also been added to the Children’s Services risk 
register. 

 
 
 

6. Legal and Human Rights Considerations 
 
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s powers are defined by 
the Local Government Act 1974 as amended by the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  The Ombudsman may investigate 
complaints of maladministration causing injustice. 
 
The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council’s decisions are right or 
wrong simply because the complainant disagrees with them. She must 
consider whether there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local 
Government Act 1974, section 34(3)). 
 

7. Financial Considerations 
 
Payments have been made to both J and Ms B in line with the remedy 
outlined. 
 

8.  Other Considerations 
 
In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors have also been 
considered: prevention of crime and disorder, equality and diversity, 
environmental, health, property and transport considerations. 
 

9. Officer Recommendation 
 
That the Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee notes the findings of 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and the action which has 
been taken by the Council in response to the Ombudsman’s report. 

 
 

 
 
 

Jane Parfrement 
Executive Director – Children’s Services 

Page 10



Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

www.lgo.org.uk 

  

Investigation into a complaint against 

Derbyshire County Council 

(reference number: 18 000 932) 

6 June 2019 

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman 

Appendix 1

Page 11

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


        

 

 Final report         2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key to names used 

 

Mrs X   The complainant 

Y        Her son 

The Ombudsman’s role 

For 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated complaints. 
We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our jurisdiction by 
recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable based on all 
the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge. 

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault.  

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost 

always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are: 

 apologise 

 pay a financial remedy 

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again. 

3. Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally 
name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a 
letter or job role. 

4.  

5.  

Page 12



        

 

 Final report         3 

Report summary 

 

Education and Children’s Services 

Mrs X complained that the Council failed to provide her son (referred to in this 
report as Y) with an education for five years because he had regularly not been in 
school and no alternative provision had been made. She also complained that Y 
had not received the support set out in his Statement of Special Educational 
Needs (SEN).  

Finding 

Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made. 

Recommendations 

The fault identified meant that Y missed out on education and SEN provision for 
the majority of his secondary school years. We welcome that the Council has 
accepted our findings and agreed to the following recommendations. 

The Council will make a payment of £22,500 to Y to reflect the impact of the 
missed provision. In part, this could be used to fund a shed that would help Y 
manage his mental health, with the remainder placed in trust for Y. 

The Council will recognise the impact to Mrs X from the lack of provision for Y, the 
distress and uncertainty about how much the provision may have helped Y over 
an extended period. To reflect this the Council will pay Mrs X £1,000. 

The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members 
and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended) 

 

Page 13



        

 

 Final report         4 

The complaint 

1. Mrs X complains that: 

a) the mainstream schools that her son, Y, attended were not right for him; 

b) staff at a school that Y attended had discriminated against him. She stated 
they unreasonably insisted he should be accompanied everywhere and he was 
not allowed to remain on the school site at lunchtimes; 

c) a school Y attended had incorrectly stated Y was receiving an education 
somewhere other than the school site, when this was not true as he was at 
home and receiving no education;   

d) Y had not received an education from 2009 to 2014 because he had regularly 
not been in school and no other education was provided to him while he was 
not in school; and  

e) Y had not received the special educational needs support that he was entitled 
to while he was not attending school. 

Legal and administrative background 

The Ombudsman’s role and powers 

2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 
report, we have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused 
an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 

26A(1), as amended) 

3. We cannot investigate late complaints unless we decide there are good reasons. 
Late complaints are when someone takes more than 12 months to complain to us 
about something a council has done. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26B and 34D, as 

amended) 

4. We cannot investigate complaints about what happens in schools. (Local 

Government Act 1974, Schedule 5, paragraph 5(b), as amended) 

5. Under the information sharing agreement between the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman and the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s 
Services and Skills (Ofsted), we will share this report with Ofsted. 

Special educational needs 

6. Before September 2014, a child with special educational needs (SEN) may have 
had a Statement. The Statement sets out the child's needs and what 
arrangements should be made to meet them. Councils must ensure the special 
educational provision specified in the Statement is provided to the child. (Education 

Act 1996, section 324(5)(a)(i)) 

7. The Special Educational Needs Code of Practice 2001 provides advice to 
councils on identifying, assessing and making provision for children's special 
educational needs. The 2001 Code remains in force for those children who still 
have a Statement and have not yet been transferred to an Education, Health and 
Care Plan.  

Page 14



        

 

 Final report         5 

8. We cannot look at complaints about what is in the Statement but can look at other 
matters, such as where the support has not been provided or where there have 
been delays in the process.  

9. Parents may appeal to the SEND Tribunal against the provision specified in a 
Statement, including the named placement, or the failure to name a placement. 
We cannot change a Statement; only SEND can do that. 

Annual reviews 

10. The annual review of a Statement considers whether the provision remains 
appropriate and whether progress is being made towards the targets in the 
Statement. Schools are responsible for convening a review.  

11. The Code says reviews should consider the special educational provision made 
for the child. Following a review, the school must send a report to the council to 
consider what changes, if any, should be made to the statement. 

Alternative education 

12. Parents have a duty to ensure their children of compulsory school age are 
receiving suitable full-time education. (Education Act 1996, section 7) 

13. Councils have a duty to make arrangements for the provision of suitable full-time 
education at a school or elsewhere for children of compulsory school age who, 
“by reason of illness, exclusion from school or otherwise may not for any period 
receive suitable education unless arrangements are made for them”. (Education Act 

1996, section 19) 

14. Suitable education means efficient education suitable to a child’s age, ability and 
aptitude and to any special educational needs he may have. (Education Act 1996, 

section 16(6))  

15. Statutory guidance ‘Alternative Provision’ says while there is no statutory 
requirement as to when suitable full-time education should begin for children 
placed in alternative provision for reasons other than exclusion, councils should 
ensure children are placed as quickly as possible.  

16. Councils must make reasonable enquiries, when notified by a school that a child 
has stopped attending, to satisfy itself the child is receiving suitable education. 
(Statutory Guidance ‘Children Missing Education’) 

17. Where full-time education would not be in the best interests of a particular child 
because of reasons relating to their physical or mental health, councils should 
provide part-time education on a basis they consider to be in the child's best 
interests. 

18. Our Focus Report, Out of school…out of mind? (2016) gives guidance on how we 
expect local authorities to fulfil their responsibilities to provide education for 
children who, for whatever reason, do not attend school full-time. It says councils 
should: 

• consider the individual circumstances of each case and be aware that, 
potentially, a council may need to act whatever the reason for absence (with 
the exception of minor issues that schools deal with on a day-to-day basis) 
even when a child is on a school roll; 

• consult all the professionals involved in a child's education and welfare, taking 
account of the evidence in coming to decisions; 

Page 15

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/1778/Focus%20report%20Out%20of%20school%20Sept%202011%20amended%20Jan%202016.pdf


        

 

 Final report         6 

• choose, based on all the evidence, whether to enforce attendance or provide 
the child with suitable alternative education; 

• keep all cases of part-time education under review with a view to increasing it if 
a child's capacity to learn increases; 

• adopt a strategic and planned approach to reintegrating children back into 
mainstream education where they are able to do so; and 

• put whatever action is chosen into practice without delay to ensure the child is 
back in education as soon as possible. 

What we have investigated 

19. We have investigated Mrs X’s complaints that Y has not received an education 
from 2009 to 2014 and that he had not received the special educational needs 
support that he was entitled to (parts d and e). We explain at the end of this report 

why we have not investigated parts a) to c). 

How we considered this complaint 

20. We would generally expect complainants to bring complaints to us within 12 
months of them becoming aware of the issues that they complain of. As a result, 
we would not usually investigate events that occurred over 12 months before 
someone raised their complaint. 

21. Although Mrs X could have complained sooner about some of the earliest issues 
she raised, we exercised discretion to consider the complaint back to 2009. This 
was because: 

• Mrs X complained in 2015, but the Council did not complete its complaint 
process until 2018; 

• the Council had investigated the events that Mrs X complained of back to 2009 
and it had found fault and upheld her complaint; 

• the Council was able to provide us with some key documents from 2009; and  

• we considered the issues Mrs X faced with Y were exceptional circumstances 
that led to the complaint being made late. 

22. We produced this report after examining relevant documents provided by Mrs X 
and the Council and taking into account the findings of the complaint investigation 
the Council arranged.  

23. We gave the complainant and the Council a confidential draft of this report and 
invited their comments. The comments received were taken into account before 

the report was finalised.  

What we found 

Background 

24. Mrs X’s son, Y, is autistic, has learning difficulties and significant problems with 
communication. He had a Statement of SEN. 

25. Y’s attendance at secondary school from September 2009 was around 14%. 
In 2010, it was 12%. After Y changed school in 2011 his attendance increased to 
14%. However, during 2012 and 2013 this reduced to 5%. 

Page 16



        

 

 Final report         7 

26. Mrs X complained to the Council in 2015 that Y had not received a suitable 
education since 2009. The Council completed its complaint process in April 2018. 
It upheld Mrs X’s complaint. 

What happened 

27. We have set out below the key events. This is not meant to be a detailed 
description of everything that happened. 

28. In 2008 Y’s behaviour was reported to be disruptive at primary school. The 
Council’s Behaviour Support Service was seeing him as a result. Y was referred 
for an assessment by an educational psychologist and for a Speech and 
Language Therapy (SALT) assessment. In October 2008, the SALT assessment 
found Y’s understanding of language was low, he struggled to express himself, 
and he could not understand facial expressions. It made suggestions for helping 
Y. It recommended targeted work several times each week. The Council then 
agreed to assess Y’s special educational needs. 

29. On 5 February 2009, the Council provided Y with a Statement. It identified that Y 
had learning difficulties and noted he struggled using and understanding 
language. It also noted Y struggled to concentrate, was easily distracted and he 
could be non-compliant and deliberately oppositional.  

30. Amongst other things, the Statement set out that Y needed 20 hours of support 
with a teaching assistant (TA) and a programme of SALT, which should be 
devised and then implemented on a regular basis.  

31. Y was due to start secondary school in September 2009. The Statement named a 
mainstream school. Mrs X challenged the placement as she felt Y needed a 
special school. However, Mrs X’s challenge came too long after Y’s SEN 
statement had been issued, so it fell outside the time limits for making an appeal. 
As a result, the Council proposed Y tried the mainstream school. Mrs X agreed.  

32. By October 2009, Y had not started attending school. The school noted Y’s 
behaviour had been highlighted as a cause for concern at a transition meeting 
during the summer. Meetings between school staff and the Behaviour Support 
Service took place in October. The attendees discussed risk assessments and 
the need to bring Y into school to meet his TA to build a relationship, but these 
actions were not taken. The attendees noted the school had sent some work 
home for Y to do. 

33. Y attended school on five occasions in October and November 2009 for around 
an hour each time. For the remaining time Y was at home. 

34. On 28 January 2010, an officer from the Council’s Education Welfare Service 
questioned Y’s attendance record. By then Y was attending school for one hour a 

week and was otherwise working at home. However, the officer noted the school 
had marked Y as ‘category B’ for his attendance for the majority of the time since 
September 2009. This indicated he was being educated elsewhere. The officer 
expressed concern about who was monitoring the work Y was doing and stated 
the level of provision was lower than Y’s entitlement. She was concerned it would 
be a struggle to get Y back to attending on a regular basis after such a long 
period away from mainstream school. 

35. The Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator (SENCO) devised a plan to address 
the concerns about Y’s attendance and provision in February 2010. The aim was 
to encourage Y to return to school over a phased period. The SENCO visited Mrs 
X and Y at home and provided a work package including multi-sensory learning 

Page 17



        

 

 Final report         8 

and practical science. However, there remained concern that Y was not 
accessing the agreed school provision.  

36. In March 2010, an attendance plan was discussed to try to make sure Y attended 
school daily for an hour and half, building to 15 hours a week by May 2010.  

37. There was an annual review of the Statement in May 2010. This noted there was 
“potential for support from the speech and language department” which was not 
yet happening. The review did not address why this provision had not started or 
consider how it may be provided while Y was out of school. Mrs X repeated her 
request for a special school, which the Council did not agree to. Y’s TA hours 
were increased from 20 to 30 a week.  

38. Y’s behaviour worsened from September 2010, leading to a number of short-term 
exclusions. In December 2010, the school felt, despite the increase in TA hours, 
Y’s variable attendance, mood swings and issues outside school were making his 
integration into mainstream school difficult. 

39. The 2011 annual review stated Y had been known to the SALT service since 
2008, but it failed to recognise SALT was not being provided. The Council named 
a new school. This was a special school which Y started to attend in March 2011. 

40. The Council’s Education Welfare Service continued to work with Y and his family. 
Y briefly attended a training provider and was supported by mental health 
services. 

41. However, during 2013, Y’s behaviour became worse and he was referred to 
social care teams following issues with drugs. This resulted in the Council 
considering safeguarding issues around Y and his brother. This did not proceed 
further as the Council noted Mrs X was already being supported by a multi-
agency team. 

42. In May 2014, Y’s medication needs had to take priority before educational 
provision was considered. In November 2014, he was diagnosed with 
schizophrenia and sectioned under the Mental Health Act. At this point Mrs X was 
advised by a parent group which resulted in her complaint to the Council. 

Mrs X’s complaint 

43. Mrs X complained to the Council in December 2015 that it had failed to provide 
suitable education for Y between 2009 and 2014, when he reached 16 years of 
age. In particular, that the Council had failed to make sure the provision set out in 
his Statement had been provided and it had not provided adequate alternative 
provision while he was not attending school. 

44. She also complained the Council had not placed Y in a special school.  

45. The Council responded in January 2016. Mrs X asked to escalate her complaint 
to Stage Two of the complaints process. The Council arranged for an 
independent person to investigate the complaint. However, in early 2017 after 
receiving their report, the Council determined it was of poor quality and the 
complaint needed to be re-investigated. 

46. In May 2017, the Council contacted Mrs X to arrange to consider her complaint 
again. It took until April 2018 for the complaint to be determined. 

The findings of the Council’s investigation 

47. The Council upheld Mrs X’s complaint that it had failed to make appropriate 
educational provision for Y.  

Page 18



        

 

 Final report         9 

48. Y’s behaviour was unpredictable and was sometimes triggered by his refusal to 
take his medication. This impacted on his ability to attend school and created 
challenges for his family. Whilst Mrs X had a responsibility to make sure Y 
attended school and had wanted him to attend a different school in 2009/10 and 
2010/11, the investigation acknowledged that she encouraged Y to attend school 
and cooperated with Education Welfare Officers when they became involved.  

49. However, the investigation found there had been problems with Y’s integration 
into secondary school. A meeting between Y and staff to build trust had not 
happened and the risk assessment was not completed, leading to Y being kept at 
home. It also noted a professionals’ meeting should have been convened when Y 
moved to the special school to consider alternative approaches.  

50. There was evidence that some work was provided for Y to do at home. However, 
the investigation found there was no indication that this work was structured or 
that Y’s work was being supervised away from school.  

51. It also noted that the school had incorrectly marked Y as receiving some form of 
structured education off the school site when this was not the case. The 
Education Welfare Service would usually have been automatically alerted to 
unauthorised absence from school. However, because Y’s absence was recorded 
as educated elsewhere by the school, this had not happened. 

52. The Council also accepted there was no record of SALT being provided after the 
initial referral in 2008. 

53. The Council found the annual reviews were not successful in establishing how to 
overcome the issues, placed an emphasis on the Education Welfare Officers to 
resolve the matters, but did not recognise the problem with lack of SEN provision 
itself. Although the reviews noted the issues with Y’s attendance and lack of 
progress, there was little evidence that actions were taken to address this. For 
example, there was no consideration about educating Y in alternative locations 
where he may be more engaged or consideration of other ways to provide the 
required SEN support. 

54. The Council accepted that Y should have been placed in a special school. 

55. The Council apologised to Mrs X that the support provided for Y whilst attending 
school was not effective and that the services which would have helped him 
throughout his schooling were not implemented. It also reviewed various areas of 
policy and practice as a result of the complaint.  

Conclusions 

56. The Council has accepted there was a failure to provide education to Y from 2009 

to 2014 and a failure to ensure he received the support set out in his Statement. 
While the situation was difficult and there were attempts to encourage Y’s 
attendance at school, he attended infrequently and there was no structured 
alternative provision. This is fault. 

57. We consider the annual reviews were wholly ineffective and did not recognise the 
Council’s statutory duty to provide the support set out in the Statement as 
recommended by the SEN Code. Whilst we cannot consider the school’s actions, 
once the Council received the report from the annual reviews it should have 
asked for more information about what was being delivered. This would have 
revealed it was not providing what the Statement required and what Y was 
entitled to receive. We therefore find fault.  

Page 19



        

 

 Final report         10 

58. There is no evidence that reviews took place after Year 10. This is fault. 

59. There was significant delay in considering the complaint. We acknowledge this 
was because of the standard of the original Stage Two investigation and the 
absence of key staff, but the delays were avoidable and this is fault.   

Did the fault cause injustice? 

60. The failure to provide Y’s SEN support, particularly SALT, caused a potentially 
significant impact to Y. It had been identified in 2009 that Y’s behaviour may be 
related to his difficulties with communication. This is why SALT was included in 
his Statement.  

61. Between 2011 and 2014 Y’s school attendance deteriorated significantly. We are 
satisfied he was caused a disadvantage by this as, whilst not all the issues he 
faced were due to education and at times it is unlikely he could have engaged 
with education, the Council had identified he needed the support set out in his 

Statement.  

62. In addition, Mrs X and Y are left with a degree of distress and uncertainty about 
how much of a difference SALT provision may have helped Y during his school 
years.  

63. We welcome the apology the Council has provided to Mrs X and the actions the 
Council agreed to take to improve its processes and procedures following this 
complaint. However, as the impact is significant we consider a financial remedy is 
appropriate to recognise the damage to Y’s education. 

64. Our guidance on remedies says where fault has resulted in a loss of educational 
provision, we will usually recommend a remedy payment of between £200 and 
£600 a month to acknowledge the impact of that loss. We have considered the 
disadvantage Y experienced for the whole of his secondary education (45 
months) and whether additional provision now can remedy some or all of the loss. 

65. Mrs X explained that following Y’s discharge from hospital, he benefits from a 
place to take ‘time out’ to manage his mental health. Presently, Y uses a shed in 
their garden, but this is in a poor state of repair. She proposed that a replacement 
shed with a chair and music system may be something that would benefit Y.  

Recommendations 

66. The fault identified meant that Y missed out on education and SEN provision for 
the majority of his secondary school years. We welcome that the Council has 
accepted our findings and agreed to the following recommendations. 

67. The Council will make a payment of £22,500 to Y to reflect the impact of the 
missed provision. In part, this could be used to fund a shed that would help Y 
manage his mental health, with the remainder placed in trust for Y. 

68. The Council will recognise the impact to Mrs X from the lack of provision for Y, the 
distress and uncertainty about how much the provision may have helped Y over 
an extended period. To reflect this the Council will pay Mrs X £1,000. 

69. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members 
and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended) 

Page 20

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/guidance-notes/guidance-on-remedies


        

 

 Final report         11 

Decision 

70. There was fault by the Council causing injustice. 

Parts of the complaint we did not investigate 

71. We have not investigated point a) of the complaint; the suitability of Y’s school. 
This is because Mrs X had the right to challenge the school named in Y’s SEN 
statement through an appeal process. We expect parents to use their rights of 
appeal to challenge the content of the SEN statement if they disagree with it.  

72. Points b) and c) refer to actions taken by the schools that Y attended. We have no 
jurisdiction to consider complaints about schools. (Local Government Act 1974, Schedule 

5, paragraph 5(b), as amended) 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Children's Services on an Investigation into Complaint No 18 000 932 against Derbyshire County Council
	Investigation into Complaint No 18 000 932 against DCC Appendix.doc


